1988

Marjorie Allisen v. American Legion Post No. 134 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

4. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Authority for Jurisdiction: This appeal was granted by Order of this Court on March 1, 1988, pursuant to Rule 5 of the Utah Supreme Court.

5. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues of law presented here are:

a. Does the version of the Utah Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident apply to those who only provide "light" beer as defined by the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act?

b. Does the Utah Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident require that the provider of alcohol breach a duty of ordinary care in order to be found liable, or does the statute create strict liability?

c. If the American Legion is found to have contributed to the cause of the accident by providing alcohol to Wesley Harju, does any comparative negligence on Plaintiff's part reduce her right to recover from Defendant?

d. If the American Legion is found to have contributed to the cause of the accident by providing alcohol to Wesley Harju, does any negligence on the part of Wesley Harju reduce the amount of damages for which American Legion may be held liable?

-8-

e. If the American Legion is found to have contributed to the cause of the accident by providing alcohol to Wesley Harju, does any contributory negligence on the part of the State of Utah Department of Transportation, Clearfield City, or the Utah Power & Light Company reduce the amount of damages for which American Legion may be held liable?

f. If the American Legion is found to have contributed to the cause of the accident by providing alcohol to Wesley Harju, is the American Legion entitled to contribution from any other entity which may have contributed to the accident through its own negligence?

6. STATUTORY AUTHORITY

The statutes, rules or cases in support of Appellant's position are as follows:

STATUTES:

Utah Code Ann. Section 16-6-13.1(8)(d)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32-1-3 (1953 as amended)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32-1-36.5(1)(1)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32-7-14
Utah Code Ann. Section 32-7-24(b) and (c)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32-11-1 et seq. (the Utah Dram Shop Act in effect as of January 30, 1985)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32A-1-22 (1985)
Utah Code Ann. Section 32A-14-1 et seq. (the Utah Dram Shop Act enacted during 1985 session and amended in 1986)
Utah Code Ann. Section 63-30-8 (1953, as amended)
Utah Code Ann. Section 68-3-11
Utah Code Ann. Section 78-27-38 (1953 as amended)
Utah Code Ann. Section 78-27-39 (1953 as amended)
Utah Code Ann. Section 78-27-40(3) (1953 as amended)

A copy of these statutes are attached as Appendix A.

7. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an interlocutory appeal of rulings made by the Second Judicial District Court of Davis County in a civil damages ("dram shop") case. The rulings being appealed include a denial of the Motion of American Legion Post No. 124 (hereafter "the Legion") to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment, and the granting of Third-Party Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Oral argument was held October 27, 1987, on Third-Party Defendants' Motion; a written Order based on the bench ruling was signed by the Honorable Douglas L. Cornaby, District Court Judge presiding, on January 6, 1988. This order confirmed an earlier ruling entered June 24, 1986. The interlocutory appeal was filed January 25, 1988.

Wesley Harju (hereafter "Harju") consumed approximately six beers within a several hour period on January 30, 1985, at the Legion. Afterward, as he was driving from the parking lot of the Legion, Harju's vehicle struck a pedestrian, Marjorie Allisen (hereafter "Allisen"), the Plaintiff in this action, at the intersection of State Route 126 and 800 North in Clearfield. Allisen was injured as a result of the accident. Allisen brought this action against the Legion under Utah Code Ann. Section 32-11-1 (1), the Utah Dram Shop Act. The Post filed the notices

-10-

required by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act for claims against three governmental entities, Clearfield City (hereafter "Clearfield"), Davis County and the State of Utah Department of Transportation (hereafter "UDOT"). The Legion brought a Third-party Complaint against those entities (except Davis County) along with Utah Power & Light Company (hereafter "UP&L") and Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph for contribution. The Legion's Third-Party Complaint was based upon a claim that the reason Harju ran into Allisen was because of negligent design and maintenance of the intersection and negligent placement and maintenance of a utility pole at said intersection. The Legion stipulated to dismissing Mountain Bell after UP&L admitted ownership and placement of the utility pole.

8. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT NO. I: The version of the Utah Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident did not apply to those who provided "light" beer as defined by the Utah Liquor Control Act, Utah Code Ann., Title 32. The Liquor Control Act contains extensive definitions of terms used in that title. Included are definitions of "liquor" and "light beer". These definitions are mutually exclusive. The Utah Dram shop Act in effect at the time of the accident applies to "liquor" and not to "light beer". The Legion only served Harju (the driver) "light beer". Thus, the

-11-

Legion was not included in the coverage of the Utah Dram Shop Act, and this entire action should be dismissed.

POINT NO. II: The legislative history of the Utah Dram Shop makes it evident that the version of that act in effect as of January 30, 1985 did not create dram shop liability for giving selling or otherwise providing beer. Legislative actions taken after the accident show that the Legislature itself was certain that the version of the Utah Dram Shop Act in effect in 1985 did not cover "light beer". In fact, in 1986 the Legislature amended the Utah Dram Shop Act to include in its coverage some providers of beer.

POINT NO. III: If the Legion is found liable under the Utah Dram Shop Act, it is entitled to contribution from other tortfeasors who contributed to the accident. The Legislature has evidenced support for a variety of social policies which must be balanced by the courts in any given situation. It cannot be said that the Legislature evidenced, in its adoption of the Utah Dram Shop Act, an intent to ignore the general rules regarding contribution. Without an explicit showing of such intent, there is a presumption that the normal rules regarding contribution apply.

POINT NO. IV: The Legion is entitled to contribution despite the fact that the Utah Legislature abolished contribution

-12-

after the cause of action arose. When the Legislature modified the rules regarding contribution it did so in conjunction with changes in joint and several liability. It would be grossly unfair to deprive a party of the right to contribution from co-tortfeasors without protecting that party from exposure to liability which exceeds its pro rata portion of fault.

POINT NO. V: The Legion, UDOT and UP&L are "joint tortfeasors" within the meaning of the Utah Comparative Negligence Act. There can be joint tort-feasors in a dram shop action. Nothing in the overall statutory scheme precludes such. Analogies to Workers' Compensation are inappropriate.

POINT NO. VI: The standard of care imposed by the Utah Dram Shop Act owed by one who serves alcohol in violation of its terms needs to be clarified. There has been some confusion as to the standard of care required by the Utah Dram Shop Act. It would be extremely helpful for this Court to address those questions if a trial in this matter will be necessary.

9. ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THE VERSION OF THE UTAH DRAM SHOP ACT IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT DID NOT APPLY TO THOSE WHO PROVIDED LIGHT BEER AS DEFINED BY THE UTAH LIQUOR CONTROL ACT, UTAH CODE ANN., TITLE 32.

-13-

The definitions of "light beer" and "liquor" under the Utah Liquor Control Act (which is Title 32 of Utah Code Ann. in which the Utah Dram shop Act is located) preclude assessing liability under its terms for one who only provides "light beer." "Light beer" was defined by the Utah Legislature at the time of the accident by Utah Code Ann. Section 32-1-3 as having not more than 3.2 per centum of alcohol by weight. The definition of "liquor" operable at that time, as defined in the same code section explicitly excludes "light beer."

Before Utah Code Ann. Section 32-11-1(1) was repealed in 1985 it stated that:

Any person who gives, sells, or otherwise provides intoxicating liquor to another contrary to Subsection 16-6-13.1(8)(d), subsection 32-1-36.5(1)(1), section 32-7-14 or subsection 32-7-24(b) or (c), and thereby causes the intoxication of the other person, is liable for injuries in person, property, or means of support to any third person, or the spouse child or parent of that third person, resulting from the intoxication.

Since the Utah Liquor Control Act specifically excludes "light beer" from the definition of "liquor" the Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident did not include providers for beer.

It must be concluded that the Legislature has chosen its words carefully. Words and phrases are to be construed as they are defined by statute. Utah Code Ann. Section 68-3-11. "The rule is well established that the General Assembly's own

-14-

construction of its language, as provided by definitions, controls in the application of a statute. [citations omitted]. This definition will be given great weight against any claim that application of the statutory definition defeats the general purpose of the statute." Ohio Civil Rights Commission v. Parklawn Manor, Inc., 41 Ohio St. 2d 47, 50; 322 N.E. 2d 642 (1975).

Moreover, the specific statutory provisions included in the relevant version of the Dram Shop Act also preclude application to the Legion:

1. Subsection 16-6-13.1(8)(d) applies only to establishments with state liquor stores on their premises. That subsection also only applies to liquor and wine (items which can only be sold publicly in Utah in State Liquor Stores). The Legion has no state liquor store. Further, the Legion never provided Harju with either liquor or wine.

2. Subsection 32-1-36.5(1)(1) only applies to providing liquor or wine to minors. The Legion never provided either liquor or wine to Harju, and Harju was not a minor at the time of the accident. (The Driver's Report of Traffic Accident lists Mr. Harju's birth date as March 11, 1931.)

3. Section 32-7-14 only applies to those who provide alcoholic beverages to persons under the influence of liquor. The evidence is uncontroverted that Harju had no other alcoholic

-15-

beverage the day of the accident other than beer. He was, therefore, not under the influence of liquor.

4. Finally, subsections 32-7-24(b) and (c) apply only to providing liquor to persons apparently under the influence of liquor. Again, Harju was not under the influence of liquor and the Legion provided him none.

It is apparent that none of the four statutory subsections included in the Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident may be said to have been violated by the Legion. Therefore, the Legion may not be held to have violated the Act as a whole.

Allisen can only maintain this action against the Legion if the plain meanings and definitions set out by the Legislature are tortured beyond reason. Although Allisen may be able to point out a logical weakness in the overall structure of the Dram Shop Act in effect at the time of the accident, the remedy for such weakness is for the Legislature to amend the statute. That is exactly what was done two year ago, as will be discussed in the next section. Meanwhile, to apply those changes retroactively deprives the Legion of any notice that their conduct could result in liability and thus violates fundamental concepts of procedural fairness.

-16-

POINT NO. II

THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF THE UTAH
DRAM SHOP ACT MAKES IT EVIDENT THAT
THE VERSION OF THAT ACT IN EFFECT
AS OF JANUARY 30, 1985 DID NOT
CREATE DRAM SHOP LIABILITY FOR
GIVING, SELLING OR OTHERWISE
PROVIDING BEER.

If there could have been any doubt as to the Dram Shop Act's coverage in January 1985, that doubt was dispelled by the Utah State Legislature's subsequent actions with regard to that Act. In 1985 the Utah Legislature repealed the old Title 32 and replaced it with Title 32A which became effective in July, 1985. The Utah Dram Shop Act became Chapter 14 of the new Alcoholic Beverage Control Act (Title 32A). Dram shop liability was not expanded beyond its previous dimensions under the newer Act.

There had been widespread criticism of the pre-1986 Dram Shop Act's exclusion of beer from its coverage. Clearfield, in its Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment in the lower court, included an Affidavit of Jerry D. Fenn. A copy of that affidavit is attached hereto as Appendix B. In 1985 Fenn chaired the Citizens' Council on Alcoholic Beverage Control (hereafter the "Council"). The Council was a statutorily-created, bi-partisan group formed to consider, investigate and inquire into all matters related to the liquor laws of Utah. See Utah Code Ann. Section 32A-1-22 (1985).

-17-

Fenn's Affidavit describes the genesis of the Report and Recommendation of the Citizen's Council on Alcoholic Beverage Control to the Utah Legislature. That report is included in Fenn's Affidavit. Prepared in the summer of 1985, the Report recommended expanding the coverage of the Utah Dram Shop Act to include coverage for those who provide beer. The Report states at pages 8 and 9:

The dram shop statute (the "Statute") presently creates liability only for those giving, selling or otherwise providing "liquor." The Statute does not encompass beer. By limiting the statute to "liquor", only a small percentage of those who furnish alcoholic beverages are subjected to liability. Intoxication stemming from the consumption of beer is clearly a significant issue facing society. The incidents of beer-induced intoxication are not minimal. The Council is of the opinion that those who sell, give or otherwise provide beer to others should not escape the consequences for their actions in circumstances where those who furnish liquor would be liable. The Citizens' Council recommends an amendment to the Statute to encompass all "alcoholic beverages."

Apparently, because of a vigorous lobbying effort by the Utah Grocers' Association, among others, the exclusion for beer was not totally abolished. Instead, the Act, as amended in 1986, provides liability only for any person who directly "gives, sells, or otherwise provides liquor, or at a location allowing consumption on the premises, any alcoholic beverage ..." Note that providers of "liquor" are still held liable regardless of where the liquor is consumed. The broader coverage for those who

-18-

provide "alcoholic beverages" (which includes beer) is reserved for those providers who allow consumption on their premises. This exception excludes grocers and others who sell only beer, and who do not allow it to be consumed on their premises.

The changes adopted by the Utah Legislature in 1986 clearly show that the Legislature believed that the Dram Shop Act in effect in 1985 did cover those who provided only "light beer". Their amendment of the statute, in the context of the debate taking place at the time, shows that it was felt that the term "alcoholic beverages" needed to be used to bring beer under its purview. The pre-1986 versions of the Dram Shop Act covered only "liquor." Again, it must be presumed that the Legislature says what it means and means what it says. Its deliberate effort to amend the Dram Shop Act to include beer can only be interpreted to mean that the legislature did not believe beer was covered prior to that time.

POINT NO. III

IF THE LEGION IS FOUND LIABLE UNDER
THE UTAH DRAM SHOP ACT, IT IS
ENTITLED TO CONTRIBUTION FROM OTHER
TORTFEASORS WHO CONTRIBUTED TO THE
ACCIDENT.

Clearfield and the other third-party defendants, UDOT and UP&L, argued below that the legislative intent underlying the Utah Dram Shop Act militates against allowing contribution from a third-party defendant. It is correct that the Act requires

-19-

suppliers of intoxicants to assume liability for damages caused to third parties by the consumers of those intoxicants. The Dram Shop Act, however, does not exist in a vacuum. Other legislative pronouncements also apply.

A substantial cause of the accident injuring Allisen was the negligent design and maintenance of the intersection where the accident occurred. The Utah State Legislature chose to waive governmental immunity specifically for defective, unsafe, or dangerous conditions of any highway, road, street, crosswalk or sidewalk. Utah Code Ann. Section 63-30-8 (1953, as amended)

To excuse UDOT and Clearfield for the abominable conditions at that intersection simply because they were brought into this action by the Legion instead of Allisen would directly thwart the Legislature's intent in passing the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Since the only circumstances under which third-party defendants could be found liable would be if it was determined that their negligence caused the accident, and since those entities would only be assessed for that portion of a verdict which their negligence caused, and since any and all contribution would go to Allisen, the intended beneficiary of the legislature's protection, the third party defendants should not have been dismissed from the lawsuit.

-20-

POINT NO. IV

THE LEGION IS ENTITLED TO CONTRIBU-
TION DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE UTAH
LEGISLATURE ABOLISHED CONTRIBUTION
AFTER THE CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE.

Clearfield, UDOT, and UP&L also argued in the trial court that since the Utah Legislature did away with the right to contribution pursuant to Utah comparative negligence statutes adopted in 1986, Utah Code Ann. Sections 78-27-38-40, they cannot now be liable for contribution. This contention is based upon the mistaken notion that since the right to contribution "vests" at the time when the tortfeasor has paid more than its pro rata share of liability, and since the right to contribution was abolished prior to the time when the Legion actually had to write out a check to Allisen, that Clearfield, UDOT and UP&L escape all liability.

A tortfeasor may not be able to receive contribution from a co-tortfeasor until it actually pays more than its pro rata portion of damages, but the common liability upon which the co-tortfeasor's obligation rests is created at the time of the tortious conduct. In Employers Mutual Casualty Co. v. Chicago, St. P. M. & O. Ry. Co., 235 Minn. 304, 309; 50 N.W.2d 689, 693; cited approvingly in Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Village of Hewitt, 143 N.W.2d 230, 234 (Minn 1966) the court said:

-21-

... 'Common Liability' exists immediately after the acts of the tortfeasors which give rise to a cause of action against them. [Citations omitted.] But, in addition to the requirement of common liability, the right to contribution rests on a payment by one which thereby relieves the other from liability.

Thus, there is a distinction between the common liability which underlies the right to contribution and the right to immediate payment to fulfill one's obligation to contribute. Clearfield obfuscated that distinction in an effort to avoid the conclusion that Clearfield's (and the other third-parties') common liability existed at the point in time when the condition of the intersection caused the accident. The fact that the Legislature abolished contribution before the Legion actually had to pay Allisen is irrelevant.

Clearfield's argument below is inconsistent with its (and the Legion's) position regarding the applicability of the Dram Shop Act to providers of beer. Regarding contribution, Clearfield argues that the modification of the Comparative Negligence Act ought to be applied to a cause of action which arose prior to that modification. In contrast, however, Clearfield has correctly argued that later changes to the Dram Shop Act demonstrate that the earlier version was in effect at the time of the accident. Consistent logic dictates that both statutory modifications be prospectively applied. Thus, any

-22-

change in the Comparative Negligence Act should not affect the Legion's right to contribution in this case.

Clearfield's reliance below on Unigard Insurance Co. v. City of LaVerkin, 689 P.2d 1344 (Utah 1984) is misplaced. In that case the Utah Supreme Court was faced with the prospect of having to dismiss a claim for contribution against a governmental agency which allowed a dangerous road condition to develop because the city claimed that over a year had elapsed since the accident, and, therefore, the Sovereign Immunity Act barred the claim. The court refused to dismiss the claim for contribution based upon the Utah State Legislature's basic policy underlying the Comparative Negligence Act, "which was designed to spread the loss for injuries among all who are responsible." Id. at 1346. Spreading the loss for Allisen's injuries to all who are responsible for them requires reversing third-party defendants' dismissal.

If the third-party defendants' dismissal is not reversed, a most unjust situation could be created. Because the Legion was sued before contribution was modified, conceivably, the Legion could be held jointly and severally liable for the entirety of Allisen's damages (less the approximately \$52,000 already paid by Harju's insurance carrier). This could occur despite the fact the Legion may have only been slightly responsible for those injuries. Such a result would flip on its head

-23-

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