1988

James Hornsby v. Corporation of the Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, a Utah corporation sole, Charles Giblett, John Sutton, and John Does I through X, inclusive: Brief of Respondents John Sutton and Mary Sutton

Utah Supreme Court

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

The plaintiff in this case failed to establish a foundation warranting *res ipsa loquitur* instructions. The evidence casts no light on whether the fire which burned plaintiff's property was probably caused by defendant's negligence. Plaintiff's testimony was that fires are virtually unavoidable when swathing and that fires "just happen," even when exercising reasonable care. On this testimony, the jury could, of course, have found that defendant had a duty to take reasonable precautions to prevent the spread of fire, but that raises no issue concerning *res ipsa loquitur*.



Id., at 723 (emphasis added).

In Reed v. Molnar, 67 Ohio St.2d 76, 423 N.E.2d 140 (1981), the Ohio Supreme Court stated as follows:

A division of authority exists on the question of the applicability of res ipsa loquitur to animal escape cases. Without passing on the first branch of the foregoing test, we find that it may not be said that the presence of unattended cattle on the public highway is an occurrence that would not have materialized absent someone's negligence. Thus, the doctrine is inapplicable and appellants were not prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on res ipsa loquitur.

In coming to this conclusion we are not unmindful of the legislative recognition implicit in R.C. 951.09 that animals may escape without fault or negligence of their owners. Similarly, there has been judicial recognition that cattle and other domestic animals can escape from perfectly adequate confines. [Citations omitted.]

Reed, 423 N.E.2d at 145 (footnote omitted; emphasis added).

In Kusy v. K-Mart Apparel Corporation, 681 P.2d 1232 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court required the same three prerequisites for the application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur but expressed them a little differently as follows:

- (1) That the accident was of a kind which, in the ordinary course of events, would not have happened had due care been observed;
- (2) that the plaintiff's own use or

operation of the agency or instrumentality was not primarily responsible for the injury; and (3) that the agency or instrumentality causing the injury was under the exclusive management or control of the defendant.

Based on the foregoing authority, plaintiff failed to meet the first prerequisite of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur because the

accident (motorcyclist laying down motorcycle to avoid collision with cow darting into roadway) was of the kind which, in the ordinary course of events, (would or could happen if due care is not observed.)

There were three separate circumstances at three separate intervals which existed in the road ahead which would have alerted a motorcyclist exercising due care of a potential hazard or danger ahead, which Hornsby ignored or failed to observe and respond to in this case:

1. At 375 feet from accident site. Hornsby could have observed a stopped vehicle with its emergency lights flashing just off the traveled portion of the eastbound lane about 165 feet ahead of him. If he had observed the same, he should have proceeded with caution.

2. At 210 feet from accident site. Hornsby could have observed a woman standing in his lane next to the stopped vehicle waving her arms in an attempt to warn him of a potential hazard or danger ahead.

3. At 210 feet from accident site. Hornsby could have observed a man standing in his lane with his back to him. The mere presence of a man in such a position would have alerted a reasonably prudent motorcyclist to proceed with caution.

If, as Hornsby testified, he was going 30 mph., which is 45 feet per second, it would have taken him almost 5 seconds to reach the accident site, clearly enough time to slow his vehicle, find out why two people were standing in his lane of travel and proceed slowly with caution. By his own testimony, he took his eyes off the road when he passed Mary Sutton and when he looked back, the cow was in the middle of the road. The cow did not appear out of nowhere. It had to come from the side of the road (Point A) in order to get to the middle of the road (Point B). It would have taken some time to get from Point A to Point B. Hornsby, after disregarding the warning given by Mary Sutton, traveled a considerable distance without looking ahead. Obviously, if Hornsby was looking ahead and driving at a reasonable speed, he easily could have seen John Sutton standing in the road ahead with his back to him, he could have seen the cow approaching the road, slowed down, allowed the cow to proceed and avoid having to lay his

motorcycle down on the road. If Hornsby had exercised due care, there would have been no accident.

Thus, the "event causing the damage" was the negligence of Hornsby, to whom the jury assessed 100% of the fault. Since the "event causing the damage" was the negligence of Hornsby and because the accident was of the kind which happens when due care is not observed," the first prerequisite to the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur was not satisfied.

With respect to the second prerequisite necessary to invoke res ipsa loquitur, the Utah Supreme Court held in Kusy v. K-Mart Apparel Fashion Corp., supra, that defendant's exclusive control of the agency or instrumentality which caused plaintiff's injury must continue to and include the time of the accident. In Denver & R.G.R. Co. v. Ashton-Whyte-Skillicorn Co., 49 Utah 82, 162 P. 83 (1916), plaintiff brought an action against defendant to recover for damage to and destruction of certain personal property, including two railroad cars, allegedly caused by defendant's negligence. The evidence at trial demonstrated plaintiff had loaned two railroad cars to defendant for use in its business. Somehow the cars escaped from defendant's premises and rolled down plaintiff's railroad track, eventually colliding with and causing damage to other railroad cars. Plaintiff relied on the

doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. The trial court nonsuited plaintiff, and it appealed. On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the nonsuit and held that plaintiff could not rely on res ipsa loquitur because it had failed to prove the cars "were under the immediate control and management of the defendant" at the time they escaped and eventually collided with plaintiff's other cars. Denver & R.G.R. Co., 162 P. at 85.

In Zampos v. United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Co., 206 F.2d 171, 177 (10th Cir. 1953) (applying Utah law), the Court held that if the circumstances surrounding the accident in which plaintiff was injured, "are equally consistent with a cause which would not be attributable to negligence, the doctrine [of res ipsa loquitur] does not apply. [Citation omitted.]" In Trigg v. City and County of Denver, Docket No. 83-2397 (filed March 4, 1986, U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit) (applying Colorado law), the Court reiterated that a plaintiff invoking res ipsa loquitur "must demonstrate the absence of equally probable alternative causes for [his] injury." Trigg, slip opinion p.6. In short, "[i]f there is any other cause apparent to which the injury may with equal fairness be attributed, the reason for a res ipsa loquitur inference fails, and the rule should not be

invoked." Id., citing, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 328D, comment f (1965).

The decisions of the Utah Supreme Court are in accord with the foregoing. Wightman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 5 Utah 2d 373, 302 P.2d 471, 474 (1956) (trial court correctly refused to instruct on res ipsa loquitur where "there was no reasonable basis shown in the evidence which would justify a conclusion that there was any greater likelihood" that accident was causally connected to instrumentality over which defendant had control); Jenson v. S. H. Kress & Co., 87 Utah 434, 49 P.2d 958, 960-961 (1935) (no basis in common knowledge or record to infer that broken glass shelf in defendant's merchantile establishment, which caused plaintiff's injuries, occurred more probably than not as a result of defendant's negligence.)

Based upon the foregoing authority, there are two reasons why plaintiff failed to meet the second prerequisite. First, there is absolutely no proof in the record that defendants' control over the cow continued to the time of the accident.

Second, plaintiff demonstrably failed to prove the absence of equally probable alternative causes for the accident such as plaintiff Hornsby's own negligence described herein. A

res ipsa loquitur instruction is improper unless plaintiff successfully demonstrates that the cause he proposes is more probably than not the effective causative agent. In this case, he completely failed to meet that burden.

In Poole v. Gillison, 15 F.R.D. 194 (E.D.Ark. 1953) the court held as follows:

Now, a mule is not an inanimate object without any independent volition, but is a live animal possessed of a brain and an intelligence of its own; the mules in this case broke out of their enclosure in the night time of their own volition while [defendant] was in bed. Under such circumstances we do not think it can be said that they were under his exclusive control and management at the time that they broke out of the lot to the extent necessary to invoke the res ipsa doctrine. Moreover, even if it be assumed that they were under his exclusive control and management while they were in the lot, it does not follow that they were so subject at the time of the collision, and, under Arkansas law, it is ordinarily required to invoke said doctrine that the exclusive control of the defendant shall have continued up to the time of the plaintiff's injury. [Citation omitted.]

Poole, 15 F.R.D. at 199 (emphasis added).

Because (1) there is no basis in common knowledge that the presence of a cow on a public highway is more probably than not the result of negligence, and (2) it is difficult, if not impossible, to prove defendant maintained exclusive control over the animal up to and including the time of the accident,

the majority of courts have refused, either on statutory or common law grounds, to instruct the jury on res ipsa loquitur in a case similar to this one. Annotation, Liability of Owner of Animal for Damage to Motor Vehicle or Injury to Person Riding Therein Resulting from Collision with Domestic Animal at Large in Street or Highway, 29 A.L.R.4th 431, 468-470 (1984) (citing 13 jurisdictions holding res ipsa loquitur inapplicable compared with 6 jurisdictions holding it applicable).

The plaintiff's proffered instruction no. 24 on res ipsa loquitur, attached as addendum I to plaintiffs brief, specified "the bailing wire that came undone" as the instrumentality over which the defendants exercised "exclusive management and control" and not the cow. The instruction did not fairly and accurately state the law of the state of Utah.

As clearly demonstrated above, however, the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, even when appropriate under all the circumstances, does not create an inference of a causal connection between the inferred negligence and plaintiff's injury, nor does it absolve plaintiff of the burden of proving specific causation. Thus, plaintiff's instructions on res ipsa loquitur was inaccurate. It is axiomatic that the failure to give inaccurate res ipsa loquitur instructions is harmless



error. Ballow, 699 P.2d at 723; Brownlow v. Aman, 740 F.2d 1476, 1490 (10th Cir. 1984).

B. The trial court did not commit prejudicial error of law by refusing to instruct the jury on res ipsa loquitur because Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-38 (1953) as amended, as construed by the Utah Supreme Court, proscribes any inference of negligence based upon the mere presence of livestock on a public highway.

By implication, if not expressly, § 41-6-38 proscribes any inference of negligence arising from the mere presence of a cow on a public road. In other words, the burden remains on every "occupant of a motor vehicle" allegedly injured as a result of a collision with livestock, to plead and prove specific acts of negligence on the part of the owner. That was precisely the holding of this Court when it construed the statute in Hyrum Smith Estate Co. v. Peterson, 227 F.2d 442 (10th Cir. 1955) (applying Utah law). In Hyrum Smith, plaintiff brought an action against defendant to recover damages for personal injuries sustained when the motorcycle he was operating collided with a horse owned by defendant on a public highway. At trial, plaintiff relied both upon res ipsa loquitur and also on defendant's active negligence. The district court, interpreting § 41-6-38, refused to

instruct the jury on *res ipsa loquitur*. Notwithstanding, the jury returned its verdict in plaintiff's favor, and defendant appealed. On appeal, no error was assigned with respect to the district court's failure to give a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction, and this Court wisely declined to consider the issue further.

Nevertheless, in its opinion in Hyrum Smith, the Court was required to interpret § 41-6-38 in order to adequately respond to defendant's claims of court error. After citing the statute, the Court made the following observations:

So far as we are advised, this section has never been construed by the Supreme Court of Utah. We, however, feel that the language of the statute providing that where a collision occurs between a motor vehicle and livestock drifting upon the highway "there is no presumption that such collision was due to negligence on behalf of the owner or the person in possession of such livestock" is clear and unambiguous and should be given the meaning naturally flowing therefrom. To us the language means, and in considering this question it will be held, that under Utah law there is no presumption that appellant was guilty in permitting the horses to be upon the highway under the conditions they were found there, and that the burden rested upon the plaintiff to establish acts of negligence to entitle him to have his case submitted to the jury.

Hyrum Smith, 227 F.2d at 444 (emphasis added). In short, the Court's specific focus on the statutory requirement of proof of "acts of negligence," forecloses plaintiff's

contention that § 41-6-38 permits him to rely on res ipsa loquitur.

Section 41-6-38 was interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court for the first time in Rhiness v. Dansie, 24 Utah 2d 375, 472 P.2d 428 (1970). In that case, plaintiffs' motor vehicle struck one of defendant's horses on U.S. Highway 6-50 in Spanish Fork Canyon, Utah. Plaintiffs sued defendant, but did not rely on res ipsa loquitur either in the trial court or on appeal. Plaintiffs successfully established that on the night of the accident, immediately prior to the collision, one of defendant's gates was left partially open. Defendant had been on his property during that day but testified he left the gate securely fastened. Rhiness, 472 P.2d at 429. Based upon the foregoing evidence, the trial court granted defendant's motion for directed verdict at the close of plaintiffs' evidence. Plaintiffs appealed.

The Utah Supreme Court affirmed. To properly dispose of plaintiffs' contentions on appeal, the court was required to interpret § 41-6-38. The court specifically held that section proscribed any inference of negligence from the mere fact defendant's horse escaped from his pasture and wandered onto the highway:

In order for the plaintiffs to recover in this action, they must show two things: First, that the highway was fenced on both sides; and second, that the horses got upon the highway through the negligence of the defendant. The mere fact that the animals escaped from the enclosure is not sufficient evidence, standing alone, to justify the submission of defendant's negligence to the jury.

Rhiness, 472 P.2d at 429-430 (emphasis added).

Based upon the foregoing, Judge Hanson correctly ruled that, under Utah law, plaintiff in this case was not entitled to a jury instruction on res ipsa loquitur.

#### POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE AN INSTRUCTION ON NEGLIGENCE PER SE

Defendants Sutton incorporate by reference the arguments made under Point IV of defendants LDS Church and Giblett's brief with the following additional argument.

Section 41-6-16 Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended) provides as follows:

The provisions of this act shall be applicable and uniform throughout this state and in all political subdivisions and municipalities therein and no local authority shall enact or enforce any rule or regulation in conflict with the provisions of this act unless expressly authorized herein. Local authorities may, however, adopt regulations consistent with this act, and additional traffic regulations which are not in conflict therewith.

(Emphasis added.)

Section 41-6-38 Utah Code Annotated, (1953) as amended which is entitled "Livestock on highway - Collision, action for damages," which is a part of the "act" referred to in 41-6-16, provides in pertinent part as follows:

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